FILED NOV 18 2016 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT No. 74841-6-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW & POLICY; AMERICAN WHITEWATER; and NORTH CASCADES CONSERVATION COUNCIL,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF OKANOGAN COUNTY, WASHINGTON, and WASHINGTON STATE POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.



PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Center for Environmental Law & Policy, American Whitewater, and North Cascades Conservation Council ("CELP") ask this Court to accept review of the Washington Court of Appeals decision terminating review of the case identified in Section B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

CELP asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals, Division 1 opinion in *Center for Environmental Law & Policy, American Whitewater, and North Cascades Conservation Council v. Washington Department of Ecology, Public Utility District No. 1 of Okanogan County, and Washington State Pollution Control Hearings Board,* No. 74841-6-I, filed on October 17, 2016 (hereinafter "Decision")¹. A copy of the Decision is attached at Appendix A. The Court of Appeals' Decision affirmed the Pollution Control Hearings Board's ("the Board's") Order on Motions for Summary Judgment in *CELP, et al. v. Ecology, et al.*, PCHB No. 13-117 (June 24, 2014), attached at Appendix B.

¹ The Court of Appeals initially filed its opinion in this case on July 11, 2016. CELP moved for reconsideration of the decision, and Ecology moved for publication of the decision. The Court then issued an Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration, granting the Motion to Publish, withdrawing the July 11, 2016 Opinion, and substituting a modified Opinion on October 17, 2016. A copy of that Order and the revised Decision is attached as Appendix A. CELP now petitions for review of the October 17, 2016 decision.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming Ecology's issuance of a water right based on a public interest finding made without adequate information, where RCW 90.03.290 and previous Supreme Court decisions require that an affirmative investigation, finding and determination of no detriment to the public interest be made *before* a water right is approved?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Washington Department of Ecology's ("Ecology's") deviation of flows from those required in the instream flow rule for the Similkameen River without first finding that the deviation is justified by an overriding consideration of the public interest ("OCPI") as required in RCW 90.54.020(3)(a)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents two fundamental questions of statutory interpretation regarding the scope of Ecology's authority to grant an entity the right to use Washington water. Time and again Washington courts have reiterated the importance of Ecology's mandatory duty to "look before you leap" when determining whether to grant permission to use the precious water resources that belong to the public. In a more recent line of cases, this Court has recognized there is only one narrow exception to the

J

principle that "a minimum flow set by rule is an existing water right that may not be impaired by subsequent withdrawal or diversion of water from a river or stream:" RCW 90.03.290(3)'s provision regarding overriding considerations of the public interest ("OCPI"). *Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty v. WA State Dep't of Ecology*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 584, 311 P.3d 6 (2013) (quoting *Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 68, 81, 11 P.3d 726 (2000). The Court of Appeals' decision in this case erroneously conferred nearly unfettered discretionary authority on Ecology to issue a water right without having complete information as to whether issuance of the water right would be detrimental to the public interest and without requiring compliance with the narrow statutory OCPI exception to deviate from the instream flows set by rule. For the reasons set forth herein, Appellants respectfully request that this Court accept review of this case and correct these errors of law.

1. The Similkameen River and the Enloe Hydroelectric Project.

The Similkameen River runs about 122 miles from its headwaters in British Columbia to the Okanogan River, near Oroville, Washington. Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 53. In 1904, the 315 foot-long, 54-foot high concrete Enloe Dam was constructed on the Similkameen at river mile 8.8. *Id.* Just 350 feet downstream from Enloe Dam are the Similkameen Falls, a sacred site of traditional cultural significance to the native people from

L

this area. *Id. at 54.* The PUD has owned Enloe Dam since 1945, but ceased generating power from it in 1958. *Id.* Since that time, natural river flows have passed over the dam and Similkameen Falls, typically ranging from about 500 to 7,000 cfs. *Id.* at 54. Typical dry season (July-October) median flows range from 514 cfs in August to 764 cfs in September. *Id.*

Minimum instream flows for the stretch of the River that includes the Project and the proposed bypass reach obtained legal protection in 1976 when Ecology adopted an instream flow rule for the Similkameen River pursuant to RCW 90.22 and RCW 90.54. WAC 173-549-020(2); CP at 54. The instream flows set by rule range between 400 cfs in September and January-February, and 3400 cfs in May and June. *Id.* The PUD seeks to generate hydroelectric power from Enloe Dam by installing a new powerhouse and diverting up to 1,600 cfs from the River at the Dam (the "Project"). CP at 54. Water would be discharged back into the river below Similkameen Falls. *Id.* The Project would thus create a "bypass reach" that would dewater the stretch of the River that includes the Falls. *Id.* To do so, the PUD would need to impair (i.e. reduce) the instream flows currently protected by rule within this bypass reach.

2. The 401 Certification & PCHB Decision.

As required by section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act ("CWA"), the PUD applied to Ecology for certification that the Project would comply with state water quality standards, commonly called a "401

Certification." 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1). Ecology's 401 Certification, issued

in 2012, set forth a "minimum flow regime in the bypass reach of 10 cfs

year round and 30 cfs for mid-July to mid-September[,] otherwise known

as the 10/30 flows" Ctr. for Envtl. Law & Policy et al. v. Ecology, et

al., PCHB No. 12-082 (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law & Final

Order (as amended upon reconsideration)) (Aug. 30, 2013) (hereinafter

"401 Certification Decision") at 9:16-17. The 10/30 instream flow is 90-

99% below the natural flows over Enloe Dam and Similkameen Falls, and

92-95% below the instream flows set in WAC 173-549-020. After a

hearing on the merits, the Board found that the 10/30 cfs minimum flow

requirement was deficient. Id. at 32:13-15. Specifically:

The Board finds the Appellants met their burden that the aesthetic flow analysis was not sufficiently completed to make a final determination of the flows that will be protective of the aesthetic values.

Id. at 32:11-16.

After considering the evidence presented at the hearing, the Board

concluded:

[T]here is not sufficient evidence to make a finding that the 10/30 flows meet the water quality standards for aesthetic values even when balancing these with the protecting of the fisheries. The professional judgment on aesthetic flows should be based on evidence depicting flow levels, either actual or simulated.

Id. at 31:16-19. To bring the 401 Certification into compliance with the Clean Water Act, the Board added a condition to the 401 Certification directing Ecology to develop an after-the-fact aesthetic flow monitoring program to determine appropriate flows for the bypass reach. *Id.* at 34:5-7. Therefore, whether there can be minimum flows in the bypass reach that are protective of aesthetic values will not be known for up to three years after Project operations begin, or until a simulated study is undertaken. *Id.* at 34:15 ("The program shall be for a period of time that provides Ecology with sufficient data and information to review actual flow levels or simulated flows."). Neither the PUD nor Ecology has undertaken the required aesthetic flow analysis, using either simulated or actual flows, or determined what modified flows would meet all applicable water quality standards and other requirements of state law. CP at 56.

3. The Water Right & Board Decision on Appeal.

On August 6, 2013, after the Board's decision on the 401 Certification appeal,² Ecology issued Report of Examination ("ROE")³ No. S4-35342 granting the PUD the right to use an additional 600 cfs of

² The Board's initial decision was finalized on August 3, 2013, before Ecology's issuance of the water right for the Project, but the Board's final decision was subsequently amended on reconsideration, for reasons not relevant to this appeal, in an order finalized on August 30, 2013.

Similkameen River water to generate hydropower at Enloe Dam.⁴ CP at 56. The ROE was conditioned on the very same 10/30 cfs instream flow requirement that the Board found to be unsupported in its 401 Certification decision. CP at 56-57. The ROE states that the "bypass flows under the 401 Water Quality Certification are designed to protect the aesthetic values of water flowing over the falls." Id. As part of its decision, Ecology cited unnamed studies and documents submitted by the PUD during the FERC license application process as justification for the 10/30 instream flow requirement. Id. In the 401 Certification Decision, however, the Board considered these studies and found they "did not address the aesthetics of the flow of the River over the Dam or the Falls." 401 Certification Decision at 14:5-6. Due to the lack of information regarding aesthetic flows, a vital component of the public interest inquiry, Ecology was unable to undertake an investigation,⁵ let alone a supported determination, regarding whether the Project would be detrimental to the public interest. Notwithstanding that lack of information, Ecology

³ Ecology's approval is set forth in a Report of Examination or ROE, which describes the factual findings for the subsequently issued water right permit.

⁴ The PUD also owns two pre-existing water rights for the hydroelectric project that are not subject to this appeal. CP at 56.

⁵ A full investigation was rendered impossible by virtue of the fact that critical information regarding the Project's impact on aesthetic flows did not exist. Because the aesthetic study has not been completed, the results of the study were not available.

assumed that issuing a permanent water right for the Project would not be detrimental to the public interest. CP at 57-58.

On September 6, 2013, Appellants filed a notice of appeal asking the Board to find the ROE invalid and in violation of the law. CP at 58. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on all issues. *Id.* On June 24, 2014, the Board issued its decision granting summary judgment for the PUD and Ecology on all issues, but modifying the ROE to include the same language as required for the 401 Certification, i.e., requiring an after-the-fact study of appropriate flows in the bypass reach. CP at 19-43. Thurston County Superior Court affirmed the PCHB's decision in all respects. CP at 154.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

CELP seeks review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), and asks the Supreme Court to accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with statutory law and decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals, and the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With RCW 90.03.290 And Previous Supreme Court And Court Of Appeals Decisions.

8

a. Ecology Authorized The Enloe Water Right Without First Finding the Project Would Not Be Detrimental To The Public Interest As Required By Statute.

It is black letter law that, when investigating a water right application, Ecology must investigate and make four affirmative findings before authorizing a right to use water. RCW 90.03.290(3). The Supreme Court of Washington has repeatedly affirmed these mandatory statutory obligations that "before a permit to appropriate may be issued, Ecology must affirmatively find (1) that water is available, (2) for a beneficial use, and that (3) an appropriation will not impair existing rights, or (4) be detrimental to the public welfare."⁶ Swinomish, 178 Wn.2d at 588-9 (citing Postema, 142 Wash.2d at 79, 11 P.3d 726 (2000)); RCW 90.03.290; see also Lummi Nation v. State of Washington, 170 Wn.2d 247, 252-53, 241 P.3d 1220 (2011); Postema, 142 Wn.2d at 79; Dept. of *Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d 582, 590-1, 957 P.2d 1241, (1998); Hillis v. Dept. of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 384, 932 P.2d 139 (1997); Stempel v. Dept. of Water Resources, 82 Wn.2d 109, 115, 508 P.2d 166 (1973); Hubbard v. Dept. of Ecology, 86 Wn. App. 119, 124, 936 P.2d 27 (1997).

⁶ The requirement to prevent impairment of existing water rights includes preventing impairment of legally protected instream flow rights. RCW 90.03.247.

C

J

No case cited by Ecology or the PUD in the proceedings below provided authority to Ecology to make any part of the four-part test when critical information is admittedly absent. However, the Court of Appeals approved Ecology's issuance of water right without Ecology knowing whether and to what extent the final flows in the bypass reach would be detrimental to the public interest. That is because the aesthetic flow study that the Board deemed necessary in the 401 Certification decision has not yet been done. The Board acknowledged that the ROE contained insufficient information to support affirmative findings on the public interest tests for the Enloe water right: "Ecology still needs additional information to make a public interest determination in relation to the PUD water right." CP at 34. In spite of this admitted lack of information, the Board, and then the Court of Appeals, improperly affirmed Ecology's public interest determination even though information on aesthetic flows in the bypass reach⁷ would not be gathered until *after* the water right was approved, and indeed until after the Project would be constructed.⁸

⁷ Because Ecology does not know the final flows in the bypass reach, it also cannot know how much power the project will produce since that number depends upon how much flow must be diverted away from the turbines and put into the bypass reach. This information is another aspect of the public interest inquiry that is unknown.

⁸ Although Ecology is not statutorily authorized to grant a water permit when one or more of the four tests are not satisfied, the agency does have discretion to issue a preliminary permit, in lieu of a denial, under those circumstances. RCW 90.03.290(2)(a).

C

The Court of Appeals, relying on Ecology's decision to make its public interest inquiry based on incomplete information, grievously misinterpreted the law in holding that Ecology's discretion to issue a water right, even without critical information, is essentially without limit. The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the Board squarely conflicts with RCW 90.03.290, and with years of Supreme Court precedents. *See, e.g., Lummi Nation*, 170 Wn.2d at 252-3; *Postema*, 142 Wn.2d at 79 (Ecology must make an affirmative public interest determination "before a permit to appropriate may be issued"); *Stempel*, 82 Wn.2d at 115 (statute requires Ecology make four determinations "prior to" issuance of permit); *Hillis,* 131 Wn.2d at 383-4 (*accord,* explaining Ecology's "responsibilities with regard to the public waters of the state").

The significance of the Court of Appeals' departure from strict compliance with the statutory four-part test cannot be overstated. The Legislature's creation of the four-part test promotes critical state interests regarding the proper allocation of the state's finite and valuable water resources. The Washington Supreme Court has previously recognized the finite nature of water resources:"[t]he prior appropriation doctrine and the first in time first in right priority principle are founded on the idea that at some point the water in a stream or lake will be insufficient to satisfy all potential users" *Swinomish*, 178 Wn.2d at 591. Water rights, once

11

perfected in accordance with RCW 90.03.330(1), are permanent property rights. *Ecology v. Grimes*, 121 Wn.2d 459, 477, 852 P.2d 1044 (1993). An appropriated water right is perpetual and operates to the exclusion of all subsequent claims. *Neubert v. Yakima-Tieton Irrigation Dist.*, 117 Wn.2d 232, 237, 814 P.2d 199 (1991). Issuance of a water right therefore has permanent implications for the allocation of water resources. Accordingly, the Legislature imposed a mandatory duty on Ecology to affirmatively "investigate, determine and find" that each of the four-part tests is met *before* Ecology grants a permanent water right. RCW 90.03.290(1); (3).

The Court of Appeals' decision allows Ecology to forestall a final finding as to whether the appropriation will be detrimental to the public interest, in violation of the plain language of RCW 90.03.290 and overwhelming precedent. Because the Board has previously determined (in the 401 certification proceeding) that an aesthetic flow study must be conducted in order to ascertain what flows would protect aesthetic values,⁹ this information is critical to inform the public interest determination. If Ecology is given the discretion to make a public interest finding based on incomplete information, it necessarily follows that Ecology could also assume that other aspects of the four-part test are met, without actually investigating or making such a determination. For example, Ecology could assume, either by failing to undertake the requisite analysis, or by deferring to an after-the-fact study, that there is water available for appropriation. Similarly, Ecology could find a proposed appropriation does not impair existing water rights, without knowing whether that is in fact the case.

The Court of Appeals' legal error is made clear when turning to other statutory language in the Water Code. The Legislature contemplated a scenario whereby a water right application did not contain "sufficient information on which to base" its findings under the four-part test, and for that reason it authorized Ecology to issue a *preliminary* permit when faced with this situation. RCW 90.03.290(2)(a) ("If the application does not contain, and the applicant does not promptly furnish sufficient information on which to base such findings, the department may issue a preliminary permit, for a period of not to exceed three years, requiring the applicant to make such surveys, investigations, studies, and progress reports, as in the opinion of the department may be necessary."). The Court of Appeals' decision in this case renders the preliminary permit language superfluous,

⁹ The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "[a]esthetics is a component of the public interest analysis." Decision at 13.

which is impermissible. *Stone v. Chelan County Sheriff's Dep't*, 110 Wn.2d 806, 810, 756 P.2d 736 (1988).

The Legislature did not confer upon Ecology the discretion to authorize a *permanent* water right when information is lacking as to one of the four mandatory findings. The Court of Appeals' decision could significantly disrupt Washington water law, which has followed a "look before you leap" model for decades. Given the scarcity of water in many parts of the state, this departure from the plain language of RCW 90.03.290 would not only be illegal, but would have significant ramifications for those who depend upon certainty and reliability regarding current and future water use. *Wilson v. Angelo*, 176 Wn. 157, 160, 28 P.2d 276 (1934) ("Taking the water code as a whole, its very purpose is to settle and determine all rights and priorities to the use of the water under investigation.").

The Court of Appeals expressly acknowledged the risks associated with Ecology's decision to base the public interest finding on an after-thefact study, but justified the risks by noting, "Ecology's decision to amend or not amend the conditions after the study will be subject to challenge." Decision at 16, n16. But that analysis misses the mark and is contrary to what the Legislature required in RCW 90.03.290. The four-part test contains questions that must be answered before issuance of the water right. It is simply unrealistic to assume that Ecology will make an unbiased investigation, determination and finding after substantial resources have already been invested in constructing the Project and putting the water to beneficial use. The law recognizes that reality, as reflected in the four-part test required by RCW 90.03.290 and prior precedent.

b. Ecology's Improper Interpretation Of The Narrow OCPI Exception In This Case Is In Conflict With Supreme Court Precedent.

A regulatory exception to the 1976 instream flow rule for the

Similkameen River, and its OCPI implications, is at issue in this case. In

order to issue the Enloe water right, Ecology had to apply an

administrative exception contained in the instream flow rule because it

recognized that the flows in the bypass reach (whatever they turn out to

be) would be significantly less than the flows required by the Instream

Flow Rule. The exception states:

Projects that would reduce the flow in a portion of a stream's length (e.g. hydroelectric projects that bypass a portion of a stream) will be considered consumptive only with respect to the affected portion of the stream. Such projects will be subject to instream flows as specified by the department. These flows may be those established in WAC 173-549-020 or, when appropriate, may be flows specifically tailored to that particular project and stream reach. When studies are required to determine such reach-and project-specific flow requirements, the department may require the project proponent to conduct such studies.

WAC 173-549-020(5). Thus, Ecology reserved itself authority to deviate

from the established instream flows for the Similkameen River, which were adopted to "provide for preservation of wildlife, fish, scenic, aesthetic and other environmental values, and navigational values." RCW 90.54.020(3)(a).

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