### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 16, 2016, 4:08 pm

#### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93844-0

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW & POLICY; AMERICAN WHITEWATER; and NORTH CASCADES CONSERVATION COUNCIL.

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF OKANOGAN COUNTY, WASHINGTON, and WASHINGTON STATE POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

# DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY AND OKANOGAN PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. This Decision Presents No Conflict with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Precedent Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)

Appellants ask for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), arguing that the court of appeals decision conflicts with prior decisions of the Supreme Court. In support of this, they cite cases that have no bearing on the decision here. The Department relied on statutory authority to grant a permit if it finds no detriment to the public welfare under RCW 90.03.290. The cases relied upon by Appellants to show a conflict do not preclude Ecology's decision to protect the public interest with an ongoing condition, and have no bearing on the provision of the instream flow rule, WAC 173-549, for bypass reach flows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ecology's permit incorporated the aesthetic study condition from the 401 Certification by reference. The Board revised the permit so that the condition is quoted completely in full. CP 43.

# 1. This Court of Appeals decision presents no conflict with RCW 90.03.290 or appellate precedent

CELP claims that the court of appeals decision presents a "conflict" with RCW 90.03.290 and case law construing the statute. *See* Petition for Review (Petition) at 8–10. CELP offers no analysis or statutory construction in support of its argument, but only emphasizes that the public interest test is "mandatory"—a point that is not in dispute.

CELP introduces a variety of water law cases to claim "conflict" under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Petition at 9–10 (citing *Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 68, 79, 11 P.3d 726 (2000); *Lummi Nation v. State of Wash.*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 252–53, 241 P.3d 1220 (2011); *Hubbard v. Dep't of Ecology*, 86 Wn. App. 119, 124, 936 P.2d 27 (1997)). While these cases all aptly state the four-part test for a water right, none conflict with the issue presented here: the protection of the public interest with binding, ongoing permit conditions.

In fact, the court of appeals decision here is fully consistent with prior cases. The published cases that address the public interest test hold that whether a water right will be a detriment to the public interest is a discretionary decision of Ecology. *Schuh v. Dep't of Ecology*, 100 Wn.2d 180, 667 P.2d 64 (1983). Importantly, the cases hold that Ecology has authority under RCW 90.03.320 to condition a water right permit "to

satisfy any public interest concerns which arise." *Dep't of Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d 582, 597–98, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998) ("[A]n agency which has authority to issue or deny permits has authority to condition them."). The Supreme Court has recognized "that Ecology is in a far better position to judge what is in the public interest regarding water permits than a court." *Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology*, 131 Wn.2d 373, 396, 932 P.2d 139 (1997); *Schuh*, 100 Wn.2d. at 187. The Court has specifically held that Ecology can consider a wide range of factors under the public welfare test. *Stempel v. Dep't of Water Resources*, 82 Wn.2d 109, 508 P.2d 166 (1973).

CELP's argument relies entirely on the faulty and misleading premise that "Ecology authorized the Enloe water right without first finding the project would not be detrimental to the public interest." Petition at 9. In fact, Ecology expressly found that the project would not be detrimental to the public interest, and CELP simply disagrees with that conclusion. Ecology's Report of Examination for the Permit described the breadth of its public interest determination:

Given that this project will produce valuable electrical energy and will do so in a sustainable manner, that the impacts on the bypass reach are reduced from those under previous project scenarios, that minimum instream flows necessary to protect the aesthetic and instream resources in the bypass reach will be a required condition of project operation, and that any negative impacts are further mitigated by the downstream discharge channel, there is no basis on which to determine that this project will be detrimental to the public welfare.

AR 23. Thus, Ecology concluded, based in part on the condition requiring further aesthetic study, that the Project as a whole would not be detrimental to the public interest.

Still, despite the clear record of Ecology's findings, CELP insists that Ecology made no public interest determination at all. For support, CELP relies on the fact that aesthetics will continue to be studied with flows adjusted to optimize aesthetics as a condition of project operation. See Petition at 10. CELP's position is that, without complete information regarding the exact aesthetic impact of the Project, Ecology lacked the ability to make any public interest determination and therefore did not do so. CELP likewise attempts to show that the Board agreed that no public interest finding was made, while in fact the Board agreed that the public interest was protected by the future condition. In reality, none of the reviewing bodies to have considered this issue have adopted CELP's confounding description of Ecology's decision. CELP's entire basis for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For example, CELP attributes the following quote to the Board: "Ecology still needs additional information to make a public interest determination in relation to the PUD water right." *See* Petition at 10. But CELP omits that the Board started that sentence with the phrase: "Thus, as argued by CELP . . . ." CP 34. The Board was therefore clearly describing CELP's theory, not adopting it.

the alleged "conflict" with precedent relies on characterizing Ecology's findings as no findings whatsoever.

CELP also argued that, because a preliminary permit was likely available, a conditional permit could not be authorized. The court of appeals rejected this argument, and CELP points to no precedent in conflict with that decision. The statute provides that Ecology "may" issue a preliminary permit when a water right application "does not contain . . . sufficient information on which to base [the four-part test] findings." RCW 90.03.290(2)(a) (emphasis added). As described above, Ecology evaluated the available information and concluded that it was sufficient to make a public interest finding. This Court has upheld Ecology's authority to issue conditioned water rights, see Theodoratus, 135 Wn.2d at 597–98, and no court has construed RCW 90.03.290 so narrowly that preliminary permits are the only alternative when additional study is needed.

The relevant cases on RCW 90.03.290 make clear that Ecology has wide discretion in determining how best to protect the public interest, including through permit conditions. But the 10/30 instream flows are binding; the aesthetics of the diversion must be studied; and the instream flows must be confirmed or adjusted. CP 42–43. Because of these conditions, there will be no detriment to the public welfare. The study will confirm whether adjusted flows are appropriate to protect the aesthetic

benefit of the Dam, but the underlying issue—namely, that aesthetic views of the Dam will be protected as much as possible—is a binding condition of the FERC license and the water Permit. CP 42–43. Given that undisputed fact, there is simply no basis to claim that Ecology lacked information on which to make the permit decision. The court of appeals decision is plainly correct on this point and does not warrant review. *See Center for Envi'l Law & Policy v. Ecology*, No. 74841-6-I, slip op. at 15–16 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2016).

# 2. This case does not involve OCPI because the Permit does not impair instream flows under WAC 173-549

Appellants claim that this decision conflicts with cases construing the "overriding considerations of the public interest" exception of RCW 90.54.020. Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. Dep't of Ecology, 178 Wn.2d 571, 311 P.3d 6 (2013); Foster v. Dep't of Ecology, 184 Wn.2d 465, 362 P.3d 959 (2015). Appellants seek to create a conflict where none exists by conflating unrelated legal principles. The Permit for a temporary diversion of water for hydropower here falls under an exception written into the original rule. WAC 173-549 has a specific provision for flows that "reduce the flow in a portion of a stream's length (e.g. hydroelectric projects that bypass a portion of the stream)," so that the rule's flows do not apply when Ecology establishes "flows specifically

tailored to that particular project and stream reach." WAC 173-549-020(5). Subsections (1) and (2) of the regulation, where the flows are defined, make clear that generally applicable minimum flows only apply if WAC 173-549-020(5) does not. Thus, the Similkameen Instream Flow rule defines minimum instream flows to include flows that are specifically tailored for a bypass reach.

Swinomish concerned an instream flow established in a 2001 rule,<sup>5</sup> amended in 2006 to provide for additional withdrawals of water. Swinomish, 178 Wn.2d at 583–84. The later withdrawals could not pass the four-part test because of the 2001 instream flow—water was no longer available year-round, and later uses would impair the instream flow. Id. at 588–90. Ecology therefore relied on the exception in RCW 90.54.020, which requires that "overriding considerations of the public interest" justify certain impacts to base flows. Swinomish, 178 Wn.2d at 583. This Court held that RCW 90.54.020 did not authorize Ecology to amend the rule; since new water uses were not allowed under RCW 90.03.290, they could not be approved by rule amendment under the OCPI exception of RCW 90.54.020. Swinomish, 178 Wn.2d at 590. Similarly, in Foster, the Court ruled that an individual permit could not be approved under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The rule in that case was the instream flow rule in the Skagit Basin, WAC 173-503.

RCW 90.54.020 OCPI exception if it would impair instream flows. *Foster*, 184 Wn.2d at 476–77.

The rule here includes no "overriding considerations of the public interest" standard that must be met before temporary bypass flows can be adopted. The provision for "specifically tailored flows" is within the definition of instream flow itself.

CELP argues that despite the explicit language of the rule allowing bypass reaches, the RCW 90.54.020 standard must be imported into WAC 173-549. This is essentially a challenge to the validity of the rule itself, but CELP has not brought a rulemaking challenge. Any challenge to a rule must comply with RCW 34.05.542 and 34.05.570(2) of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). Not only has CELP not brought a proper rule challenge, it only recently raised the argument that the rule's exception can only be met if OCPI is also met. CELP raised this argument for the first time in its reply brief at the court of appeals, submitted after this Court released its decision in *Foster*. Appellants' Reply Brief, *Center for Envt'l Law & Policy v. Ecology*, No. 74841-6-I (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2016). CELP did not challenge WAC 173-549 in its petition for judicial review to the superior court. CELP did not follow the review procedures of RCW 34.05.570(2)(c); the record includes no rulemaking

file and CELP has submitted no arguments to show why the exception of WAC 173-549-020(5) is invalid.

The court of appeals correctly ruled that the plain language of WAC 173-549-020(5) was properly applied here. *Center for Envt'l Law & Policy*, slip op. at 22. The exception has not been the subject of any prior decision by this Court or the court of appeals. Thus, the court of appeals decision below presents no conflict with any other case and there is no basis for review here.

#### B. This Decision Presents No Issue of Statewide Importance

The court of appeals decision here addresses a situation where the particular aesthetics of water falling over the Enloe Dam are best measured after Project operation. This case does not involve instream flows for fish, poses no threat of impairment to other water rights, and implicates no questions of water availability.

CELP argues that this raises an issue of "substantial public interest," under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because if a conditional water right is possible contingent upon an aesthetic study, "it necessarily follows that Ecology could also assume that other aspects of the four-part test are met" prior to issuing a water right. Petition at 12–13. CELP claims this would confer "unfettered discretion" upon Ecology, with the "devastating effect"

of upending the entire prior appropriation system, which would be a "catastrophic result." Petition at 19–20.

These imagined consequences are not the subject of this decision, and existing law already addresses those concerns. Ecology cannot issue a water right without first making findings of impairment and availability. *Postema*, 142 Wn.2d at 111; *Swinomish*, 178 Wn.2d at 589; *Foster*, 184 Wn.2d at 475. Ecology expressly made such findings in this case. The court of appeals did not hold that Ecology's discretion "is essentially without limit." Petition at 11. This is a fact-specific situation involving the study of the timing, pathway of water flow, and aesthetic appearance of water over the Dam.

Not only are the imagined consequences not implicated by the decision here, but even the specific issue here—the aesthetic value of water flowing over the Dam—can be subject to further review if Appellants or any other interested party finds the flows after the aesthetic study to be inadequate. CELP, the District, or any aggrieved party with the right to appeal can obtain APA review of the final flow decision. RCW 43.21B.110(1)(d). The District's conditional permit cannot vest as a permanent water certificate and cannot be changed to another use besides hydropower. This is the check on Ecology's discretion. This is the remedy for any concern that "[i]t is simply unrealistic to assume that Ecology will

make an unbiased investigation, determination and finding" about instream flows. Petition at 15. The Legislature has provided Ecology with that authority, and parties that disagree with Ecology's final flow decision have the ability to bring this concern to the Board and through the judicial review process of the APA. RCW 43.21B.110(1)(d), 34.05.570.

CELP's RAP 13.4(b)(4) argument reaches far beyond the scope of the court of appeals decision. The decision itself does not "dramatically" or even "potentially" alter the statutory scheme for water appropriation. Petition at 19. Contrary to CELP's argument, Ecology does not "believe it has the authority" to issue permits apart from the four-part test. The passage referred to in CELP's Petition describes Ecology's statutory authority "to issue water permits subject to monitoring and revision. In applying the statutory test for a water permit, the Court determined that Ecology can determine the public interest test is satisfied contingent on additional study." Motion for Publication of Opinion, *Center for Envt'l Law & Policy v. Ecology*, No. 74841-6-I at 2–3 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2016).

The court of appeals decision in this case involves a narrow issue of studying the aesthetics of a hydropower project. It is only by exaggerating the scope of this decision, and warning that it will "potentially" extend to hypothetical circumstances, that CELP can argue

that it warrants Supreme Court review. As discussed above, these arguments are unpersuasive and should be rejected.

#### V. CONCLUSION

CELP has failed to show why either RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4) justify Supreme Court review of the court of appeals decision. Ecology respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny CELP's Petition for Review.